## S255839

Sur	oreme	<b>Court No:</b>	
$\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{u}}$		Coulting	

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re CADEN C., A Persons Coming	) Court of Appeal Nos.
Under the Juvenile Court Law.	) A153925, A154042 )
SAN FRANCISCO HUMAN	) San Francisco County No
SERVICES AGENCY,	) JD15-3034
Plaintiff and Appellant,	)
	)
V.	)
	)
CHRISTINE C. et al,	)
Defendants and Respondents;	)
	)
CADEN C., a Minor,	)
Appellant.	)
	)

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE SUPERIOR COURT STATE OF CALIFORNIA, CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO

HONORABLE MONICA WILEY, JUDGE PRESIDING

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

- Whether a parent's compliance with court-ordered reunification services and the degree to which the parent ameliorated the causes of the child's dependency should be a consideration in determining whether the Welfare and Institutions Code¹ section 366.26, subdivisions (c)(1)(B)(i) beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption applies?
- Whether including a requirement that the parent comply with court-ordered reunification services and rehabilitate themselves in order to meet the beneficial parental relationship exception of section 366.26, subdivision (c)(1)(B)(i), is inconsistent with the purpose of the exception and also renders the exception meaningless because the exception only applies when the parents have failed to reunify with their dependent child?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise noted.

# **NECESSITY FOR REVIEW**

This case presents interesting and important issues for review by this Supreme Court. This case should be accepted for review because it provides an opportunity for this Supreme Court to decide an important question of law with respect to what is required for a parent to meet the "beneficial parental relationship" exception to termination of parental rights contained in section 366.26, subdivision (c)(1)(B)(i). In the present case, in January 2014, dependency jurisdiction was asserted over then four-year-old Caden based on Mother's drug use and homelessness. Caden was returned to Mother's custody at the six month review in June 2014, but removed again in June 2016, just under a two years later, after Mother relapsed. While Caden was not in Mother's custody she regularly visited with him and they maintained a very close parent-child bond. At the section 366.26 hearing in February 2018, the juvenile court found that the beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption applied and subsequently selected a permanent plan of long-term foster care for Caden. Although the Court of Appeal agreed that Mother and Caden shared a beneficial relationship the termination of which would cause Cade to suffer detriment, it nevertheless reversed, holding that her failure to comply with courtordered reunification services and to ameliorate her substance abuse and

mental health problems effectively prevented application of the beneficial parent-child relationship exception.

Mother submits that a parent's failure to comply with reunification services is not, and should not, be a consideration in determining whether the beneficial parent-child relationship exception applies, for if the parents complied with reunification services and rehabilitated themselves, the case would not have proceeded to the point where the beneficial parent-child relationship exception is at issue. Further, return to parental custody is not an option at the section 366.26 hearing, nor is a parent's ability to provide a permanent home. What *is* the focus of the beneficial parental relationship exception is the parent's relationship with the child, and whether severing that relationship by termination of parental rights would be detrimental to the child.

It is respectfully submitted that a grant of review and resolution of these issues by this Court is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and/or settle an important question of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) In light of the fundamental constitutional rights affected, and the number of cases to which these issues apply, this matter is of sufficient importance to warrant review by this Supreme Court. Therefore, this petition for review should be granted.

# **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

For purposes of this petition only, petitioner, Christine C., adopts the background set forth in the opinion of the Court of Appeal, *In re Caden C*. (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 87, appended hereto as Appendix A.

# **ARGUMENT**

I.

A PARENT'S COMPLIANCE WITH COURT-ORDERED REUNIFICATION SERVICES AND THE DEGREE TO WHICH THE PARENT AMELIORATED THE CAUSES OF THE CHILD'S DEPENDENCY SHOULD NOT BE A CONSIDERATION IN DETERMINING WHETHER OR NOT THE BENEFICIAL PARENT-CHILD RELATIONSHIP EXCEPTION TO ADOPTION APPLIES.

While they are not reflected in the United States Constitution itself, which is "verbally silent on the specific subject" of children as well as parents, a parent's private interests in the custody and care of their child has been found to be implicit in the "liberty" protected by the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause. (See *Santosky v. Kramer*(1982) 455 U.S. 745, 753; *Lassiter v. Department of Social Services*(1981) 452 U.S. 18, 38-39; *In re Marilyn H.* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 295, 306-307; *In re Sade C.* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 952, 987.)

When a child is removed from parental custody pursuant to juvenile dependency jurisdiction, and the parents do not reunify with the child, section 366.26 provides that the juvenile court shall terminate parental rights only if it determines by clear and convincing evidence that it is likely that the child will be adopted. (§ 366.26, subd. (c)(1).) However, section 366.26 also provides that regardless of the finding of adoptability, the court shall not terminate parental rights if the court finds a compelling reason for determining that termination would be detrimental to the child due to one or more of six "exceptions." (§ 366.26, subd. (c)(1)(B)(i) thru (vi).) One of those exceptions, which is at issue in this case, is that the parent has maintained regular visitation and contact with the child and the child would benefit from continuing the relationship. (§ 366.26, subd. (c)(1)(B)(i).)

This exception is know as the beneficial parent-child relationship exception.

In the present case, the juvenile court found that the beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption applied because Mother had maintained consistent and regular visitation and contact with Caden, Mother stood in a parental role to Caden, the regular visitation and contact had continue a significant emotional attachment between Caden and Mother, and Caden derived benefit from his visits with Mother. (2/8/18RT 24-26.) In other words, the juvenile court found that Mother had met her burden to

establish that the beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption applied. The Court of Appeal affirmed these finding stating it had "little difficulty concluding substantial evidence supports the juvenile court's implicit finding that a beneficial relationship existed here between [Mother and Caden]." (Appendix A pp. 21-24.)

Also in the present case, the juvenile court found that severing Caden's relationship with Mother would cause Caden great harm and that the relationship between Mother and Caden outweighed any prospective adoption. (2/8/18RT 24-26.) The Court of Appeal reversed. In doing so it opined that there were "two overarching considerations guid[ing its] analysis." The first was that the juvenile court's finding that "[M]other had 'substantially complied with her case plan' and 'continues her efforts to maintain her sobriety and address her mental health issues' is not supported by the record." (Appendix A pp. 24, 25-26.) The Court of Appeal, relying on In re Noah G. (2016) 247 Cal. App. 4th 1292, 1302, 1304, In re Breanna S. (2017) 8 Cal. App. 5th 636, 648 and *In re Marcelo B*. (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 635, 643-645 as compared to *In re S.B.* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 289, 293-294, 300-301, *In re Amber M.* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 681, 686-687, 690-691 and *In re Brandon C*. (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 1530, 1535, then proceeded to find that Mother's failure to

comply with her service plan and rehabilitate herself prevented application of the beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption particularly in light of the fact that the only available permanent plan other than adoption was long-term foster care. (Appendix A pp. 26-30.)

The focus of the Court of Appeal was misplaced and, therefore, erroneous. The Court of Appeal appears more concerned with Mother's failure to comply with reunification services and resultant inability to have Caden returned to her than with the clear strong parent-child relationship that existed between Mother and Caden, which both the Court of Appeal and the juvenile court acknowledge exists and the undisputed evidence showed. When the juvenile court found that Mother met her burden of establishing the beneficial parental relationship exception, all it was doing was assuring that their relationship continued.

A parent's current inability to reunify with their child can not justify the termination of parental rights. (*In re Amber M., supra,* 103 Cal.App.4th at p. 690.) Hence, it necessarily follows that a parent's failure to comply with their service plan and rehabilitate themselves should not be a consideration in determining whether or not the beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption applies. Therefore, this Court should grant review to address this very important question of law.

INCLUDING A REQUIREMENT THAT THE PARENT COMPLY WITH COURT-ORDERED REUNIFICATION SERVICES AND REHABILITATE THEMSELVES IN ORDER TO MEET THE BENEFICIAL PARENT-CHILD RELATIONSHIP EXCEPTION TO ADOPTION IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE PURPOSE OF THE EXCEPTION AND RENDERS THE EXCEPTION MEANINGLESS BECAUSE THE EXCEPTIONS ONLY APPLIES WHEN THE PARENTS HAVE FAILED TO REUNIFY WITH THEIR DEPENDENT CHILD.

In construing a statute, this Court should ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. (*Select Base Materials v. Board of Equalization* (1959) 51 Cal.2d 640, 645; *Alford v. Pierno* (1972) 27 Cal.App.3d 682, 688; *Cossack v. Los Angeles* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 726, 732.) The words of a statute should be construed in context, and should be given such interpretation as will promote rather than defeat the general purpose and policy of the law. (*Alford v. Pierno, supra*, 27 Cal.App.3d at p. 688; *People v. Monroe* (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 1174, 1184.) Moreover, any interpretation that renders statutory terms meaningless must be avoided. (*Agnew v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 310, 330; *People v. Loeun* (1997) 17 Cal.4th 1, 9.)

The purpose of section 366.26, subdivision (c)(1)(B)(i), is not to prevent all persons who are not ideal parents from being a part of their children's lives. Rather, the purpose of the statute is to assure that the child

is not deprived of an important parent-child relationship where there has been regular visitation and contact and there exists a beneficial relationship between the child and parent. (See *In re Autumn H*.(1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 567, 575-576; see also *Marlene M. v. Superior Court* (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 1139, 1151.) Interpreting section 366.26, subdivision (c)(1)(B)(i), so that a parent's failure to comply with court-ordered services and rehabilitate can defeat application of the beneficial parent-child relationship exception is legally wrong because it virtually assures that children will be deprived of important parent-child relationships thereby defeating the purpose of the exception.

Moreover, making compliance with reunification services and rehabilitation a requirement to meet the exception to termination of parental rights renders the exception meaningless. Had the parent rehabilitated they would not be at risk of losing their parental rights and the exception would not be relevant. That parent would have been reunified with their child at either the section 366.21, section 366.22 or section 366.25 review hearing or under a petition to modify court orders under section 388, and termination of parental rights would not be at issue. Indeed, the beneficial parent-child relationship exception does not even become applicable until "[a]fter the parent has failed to reunify [i.e failed to comply with the service

plan] and the court has found the child likely to be adopted." (*In re Autumn H., supra*, 27 Cal.App.4th at p. 574.) Therefore, when a court uses the failure of a parent or parents to rehabilitate themselves to defeat application of section 366.26, subdivision (c)(1)(B)(i), the exception provision is

rendered meaningless.

Imposing a requirement that the parent have complied with their court-ordered service plan and rehabilitated upon application of the section 366.26, subdivision (c)(1)(B)(i), beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption is inconsistent with the purpose of the exception and renders the exception meaningless. Therefore, this Court should grant review to address this important statutory interpretation issue.

# **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant the petition for review.