Supreme Court Case No. <u>S255839</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re C.C.,

A Person Coming Under The Juvenile Court Law

Case No. A153925, Consolidated with Case No. A154042

(San Francisco Superior Court Case No. JD15-3034)

SAN FRANCISCO HUMAN SERVICES AGENCY,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

C.C.,

Defendant and Respondent;

CADEN C., a Minor,

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Appeal from Orders of the Superior Court for the State of California For the County of San Francisco County Honorable Monica Wiley, Judge Presiding

Dennis J. Herrera, SBN: 139669

City Attorney

Kimiko Burton, SBN: 148173

Lead Attorney Fox Plaza

1390 Market St., 7th Flr.

I. INTRODUCTION

Caden C. spent the majority of his young life with a substancedependent mother who used methamphetamines to "self-medicate" her mental health issues and who believed she was a better parent when using drugs. Caden was first removed from mother's care in September 2013 when he was four years old; he was removed for the second time when he was seven years old; and he had been in five different foster care placements by the time of the Welfare and Institutions Code section 366.26 hearing (".26 hearing"). The undisputed evidence at the .26 hearing was that (1) mother was using substances and was making no efforts to address her substance abuse and mental health issues; (2) Caden was closely bonded with his current caregiver, whom he has known for four years and who wants to adopt him; (3) Caden's special needs require consistent support and caregiving; (4) Caden has additional vulnerabilities based on his exposure to more than four categories of trauma while in mother's care; and (5) without placement in an adoptive home, Caden's physical and mental health are at substantial risk.

Despite the foregoing, and despite finding that Caden was adoptable, the juvenile court declined to give Caden the security and permanency he deserved, finding that the bond Caden had with his mother outweighed the bond he shared with the caregiver who would adopt him. In doing so, the juvenile court plainly misapplied the law. The juvenile court also relied on

evidence that did not exist and misunderstood the expert testimony before it. The court instead chose long-term foster care for Caden, an option that had already proved problematic due to mother's history of constant interference and efforts to undermine placements, and which undisputed expert testimony opined was unacceptably risky due to the extent of Caden's trauma history and learning disabilities.

The appeals in this case were filed by both the San Francisco Human Services Agency and by minor. Both sought a determination that no reasonable court could have made the finding that this juvenile court made. The Court of Appeal agreed, finding that, under the circumstances of this case, no reasonable court could have concluded that a compelling justification for refusing to order adoption was made.

Petitioner mother has a 37-year history of substance abuse that has resulted in multiple removals for six of her children. Her substance abuse and mental health issues caused Caden to endure years of trauma and instability including two removals and five different foster care placements. By the time of the section 366.26 hearing, she was, by all accounts, refusing to engage in substance abuse or mental health treatment, lacking any insight into the effect of her substance abuse on her ability to be a parent to Caden.

Mother argues that this Court's review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and settle an important question of law under California Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subdivision (b)(1). But no such need exists--there

is no disagreement among the districts and no unsettled issue of law. The Court of Appeal simply found and corrected an abuse of the trial court's discretion.

II. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

A. Mother mischaracterizes the Court of Appeal's decision; the decision did not create a new requirement and did not alter application of the beneficial relationship exception.

Mother asserts that the Court of Appeal created a new requirement for the beneficial relationship exception – that the parent be in compliance with services and be rehabilitated – thus rendering the exception meaningless. But the decision created no such requirement.

In this case, mother (1) was making no efforts to engage in services; (2) was abusing substances; and (3) testified at an earlier postpermanency review hearing that she did not understand how methamphetamine use affected her fitness as a parent, and testified at the permanency planning hearing that while she was an addict, her drug usage did not negatively impact her ability to parent her child. After examining these facts and others, the Court of Appeal held:

No reasonable court would apply the beneficial relationship exception on this record of mother's disengagement from treatment and case plan, inability or unwillingness to remain sober, and deficient insight regarding her parenting.

In re Caden C., case no. A153925, slip op. at p. 28. Nowhere in the opinion does the Court of Appeal specify the requirement that the parent seeking

application of the exception be in compliance with services and be rehabilitated. Nor does it seek to prohibit application of the exception in every case where a parent has failed to reunify with her child. It simply required that the juvenile court give the necessary consideration to the undisputed evidence before it when determining whether the parent-child relationship promotes the well-being of the child to such a degree as to outweigh the benefit of adoption.

B. The law is not unsettled; courts have long affirmed that a parent's effort to address substance abuse and mental health is an appropriate factor in the beneficial relationship exception analysis.

Mother further argues that this Court should "settle the question" of whether or not a parent's engagement in services, and her progress therein, should be factors in the beneficial relationship exception analysis. But the courts have long been in agreement that consideration of such factors is appropriate. See In re Caden C., case no. A153925, slip op. at p. 26-27, citing In re Noah G. (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 1292; Breanna S. (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 636; In re Marcelo B. (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 635; In re S.B. (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 289; In re Amber M. (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 681; In re Brandon C. (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 1530 and In re E.T. (2018) 31 Cal.App.5th 68. Mother has identified no decision holding that that consideration of such factors is improper.

Moreover, there is no question that a parent's efforts to address her substance abuse and mental health issues *should* be a consideration. The task of the juvenile court is to assess the value of the parent-child relationship and

to determine whether that relationship amounts to a compelling reason to forgo adoption and all of its attendant benefits. A parent's utter refusal to engage in efforts to address substance abuse or mental health is an obvious factor in that determination.

C. The Court of Appeal's decision was correct.

A further basis for denying review is the simple fact that the Court of Appeal was correct. The juvenile court's decision to forgo adoption by Caden's longtime caregiver in favor of the instability of long-term foster care was – on the record before it and in light of well-established principles of dependency law – a rare but clear abuse of discretion.

When reunification efforts with a parent fail, as they did in this case, the focus shifts from family preservation "to the needs of the child for permanency and stability." *In re Marilyn H.* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 295, 309; *In re G.B.* (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 1147, 1163; *In re Jason J.* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 922, 935. Thus, permanency planning hearings are "designed to protect children's 'compelling rights . . . to have a placement that is stable, permanent, and that allows the caretaker to make a full emotional commitment to the child." *In re Celine R.* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 45, 52–53. As the most permanent of the available options, adoption is the plan preferred by the Legislature. *In re Autumn H.* (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 567, 573. Indeed, when a court finds that a child is likely to be adopted if parental rights are terminated, it *must* select adoption as the permanent plan unless it finds a "compelling reason for determining that

termination would be detrimental to the child" due to one or more of the statutory circumstances delineated in section 366.26. § 366.26, subd. (c)(1)(B); In re A.A. (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 1292, 1320. The three prongs which establish the beneficial relationship exception are: (1) regular visitation and contact with the minor; (2) a significant parent-child relationship; and (3) that the parent-child relationship promotes the well-being of the child to such a degree as to outweigh the benefit the child would obtain by securing a permanent home with new, adoptive parents. Section 366.26(c)(1)(B)(i).

Here, the Court of Appeal was correct when it held that no reasonable court could have found the third prong of the exception was satisfied. Caden is an especially vulnerable child, with learning disabilities, PTSD, and exposure to multiple types of trauma. In addition to mother's refusal to make efforts to address her substance abuse and mental health issues and her lack of any insight into those issues, she had a history of trying to interfere with and undermine Caden's foster care placements and had recently caused a guardianship for her daughter to fail. At the same time, his longtime caregiver had shown a remarkable commitment to the boy's well-being over the course of five years, as well as the ability to support his needs.

These circumstances were undisputed and went to the heart of the weighing process that is the essence of the third prong. There was also undisputed expert opinion. Dr. Lieberman – the only expert in the case who considered the question of how Caden would do in foster care if parental rights

were not terminated and the only expert who weighed the different permanency options against each other – opined that, even accepting the strong parent-child bond, any placement other than adoption would pose an "unacceptable risk" to Caden's well-being due to his vulnerabilities. The circumstances of the case, together with the expert opinions, viewed as a whole and in light of the well-established jurisprudence on the beneficial relationship exception, could resolve the third prong in only one way.

Tellingly, the juvenile court (1) never explained how it reconciled these circumstances; (2) ignored Dr. Lieberman for an unsupportable reason (as explained in Slip Op. at fn. 6; and (3) provided analysis that was fundamentally confused. In addition to purporting to rely on evidence of mother's supposed efforts to maintain her sobriety where none existed in the record, the juvenile court also appeared confused as to the legal standard it needed to apply, believing that the question was whether a beneficial relationship existed (without the balancing of the third prong) and whether mother's parental bond trumped the bond Caden shared with his current caregiver. If the Court of Appeal had not reversed it would have would have fallen short of its duty as a reviewing court.

//

//

//

III. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons the San Francisco Human Services

Agency respectfully requests that the petition for review be denied.